




[image: images]










[image: image]


[image: image]










Contents



1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


29


30


31


32


33


34


35


36


37


38


39


40


41


42


43


44


45


46


47


48


49


50


51


52


53


54


55


56


57


58


59


60


61


62


63


64


65


66


67


68


69


70


71


72


73


74


75


76


Acknowledgments







   

In memory of Kate Bailey and Ruth Rockhold:
You will be greatly missed.









1


The prison looked more like the campus of a community college than a place where men were kept in cells for ten years or longer for offenses committed while wearing the uniform of their country. There were no guard towers, but there were two staggered twelve-foot-tall security fences, armed patrols, and enough surveillance cameras to keep an electronic eye on virtually every millimeter of the place. Situated at the northern end of Fort Leavenworth, the United States Disciplinary Barracks sat next to the Missouri River on nearly forty rolling, forested Kansas acres, a mound of brick and razor wire cradled by a green hand. It was the only maximum-security military prison for males in the country.


America’s foremost military prison was called the USDB, or the DB for short. The Leavenworth federal penitentiary for civilians, one of three prisons on the grounds of Fort Leavenworth, was four miles to the south. Along with the Joint Regional Correctional Facility—also for military prisoners—there was a fourth privately operated prison in Leavenworth, which raised the total inmate population among the four prisons to about five thousand. The Leavenworth Tourism Bureau, apparently seeking to capitalize on any bit of notoriety to lure visitors to the area, had incorporated the prison angle into its promotional brochures with the phrase “Doin’ time in Leavenworth.”


Federal dollars rolled through this part of Kansas and jumped the border into Missouri like a flood of green paper locusts, boosting the local economy and filling the coffers of businesses that provided the soldiers with smoked ribs, cold beer, fast cars, cheap hookers and pretty much everything in between.


Inside the DB were about four hundred and fifty prisoners. Inmates were housed in a series of escape-proof pods, including a Special Housing Unit, or SHU. The majority of inmates were here for sex-based crimes. They were mostly young and their sentences were long.


Approximately ten prisoners were kept in solitary confinement at any one time, while the remaining inmates were housed in the general population. There were no bars on the doors; they were just solid metal, with a slot at the bottom for food trays to be shoved through. This also allowed for shackles to be fitted like a new pair of iron shoes when a prisoner needed to be transported somewhere.


Unlike at some other state and federal penitentiaries around the country, discipline and respect were demanded here and given. There were no power struggles between the incarcerated and their watchers. There was the rule of military law, and the primary responses from those being held here were “Yes, sir,” closely followed by “No, sir.”


The DB had a death row on which currently sat a half dozen convicted murderers, including the Fort Hood killer. It also had an execution chamber. Whether any of the death row inmates would ever see the lethal injection needle would be something only the lawyers and judges could determine, probably years and millions of dollars in legal fees from now.


Day had long since passed to night and the lights from a civilian Piper plane lifting off from the nearby Sherman Airfield were almost the only evidence of activity. It was quiet now, but a violent storm front that had been on the radar for a while was howling in from the north. Another system that had sprung up in Texas was barreling toward the Midwest like a brakeless freight train. It would soon meet its northern counterpart, with devastating results. The entire area was already hunkering down in anticipation.


When the two rampaging fronts met three hours later, the result was a storm of shattering proportions, with jagged lightning slicing sideways across the sky, rain bucketing down, and winds that seemed to have no limit to their strength or reach.


The power lines went first, snapped like string by tumbling trees. Then down came the phone lines. After that more trees toppled, blocking roads. The nearby Kansas City International Airport had been shut down ahead of time, all planes empty and the terminal full of travelers riding out the storm and quietly thanking God they were on the ground instead of up in that maelstrom.


Inside the DB the guards made their rounds, or sipped their coffees in the break room, or talked in low whispers, exchanging scuttlebutt of no importance just to get through their shifts. No one thought anything of the storm outside since they were safely inside a fortress of brick and steel. They were like an aircraft carrier confronted by gale-force winds and heavy seas. It might not be pleasant, but they would easily ride it out.


Even when the regular power failed as both transformers at a nearby substation blew up, plunging the prison into momentary darkness, no one was overly concerned. The massive backup generator automatically kicked on, and that machine was inside a bombproof installation with its own underground power source of natural gas that would never run out of juice. This secondary system came on so fast the short lapse did nothing more than cause jittery fluorescents and a few pops on surveillance cameras and computer monitors.


Guards finished their coffees and moved on to other gossip, while others slowly made their way down halls and around corners and in and out of pods, making sure all was well in the world of the DB.


What finally got everyone’s attention was the total silence that came when the foolproof generator with the endless supply of energy in the bombproof installation made a noise like a giant with whooping cough, and then simply died.


All the lights, cameras, and consoles instantly went out, although some of the surveillance cameras had battery backups and thus remained on. And then the quiet was replaced with urgent cries and the sounds of men running. Communication radios crackled and popped. Flashlights were snatched from holders on leather belts and powered up. But they provided only meager illumination.


And then the unthinkable occurred: All the automatic cell doors unlocked. This was not supposed to happen. The system was built such that whenever the power failed, the doors automatically locked. Not so good for prisoners if the power failure was due to, say, a fire, but that’s the way it was, or the way it was supposed to be. However, now the guards were hearing the clicks of cell doors opening all over the prison, and hundreds of prisoners were emerging into the hallways.


There were no guns allowed in the DB. Thus the guards had only their authority, wits, training, ability to read prisoners’ moods, and heavy batons to keep order. And now those batons were gripped in hands that were becoming increasingly sweaty.


There were SOPs, or standard operating procedures, for such an eventuality, because the military had procedures for every eventuality. The Army typically had two backups for all critical items. At the DB the natural gas backup generator was considered a failsafe. However, now it had failed. Now it fell to the guards to maintain complete order. They were the last line of defense. The first goal was to secure all prisoners. The secondary goal was to secure all prisoners. Anything else would be deemed an unacceptable failure by any military standard. Careers and along with them stars and bars would fall off like parched needles from a Christmas tree still up in late January.


Since there were far more prisoners than guards, securing all of them involved a few tactics, the most important of which required grouping them in the large open central areas, where they would be made to lie facedown. This seemed to be going well for about five minutes, but then something else happened that would make every guard dig deeper into the Army manuals and more than one sphincter—whether attached to guard or prisoner—tighten.


“We’ve got shots fired,” shouted a guard into his radio. “Shots fired, undetermined location, unknown source.”


This message was repeated down the line until it was ringing in every guard’s ears. Shots fired and nobody knew from where or by whom. And since none of the guards had guns, that meant one of the prisoners must. Maybe more than one.


Now things, already serious, morphed into something bordering on chaotic.


And then the situation became a lot worse.


The sound of an explosion flooded the interior of pod number three, which contained the SHU. Now the borderline chaotic leapt right into utter meltdown. The only thing that could restore order was an overwhelming show of armed force. And there were few organizations in the world that could do overwhelming armed force better than the United States Army. Especially when that gunned-up force was right next door at Fort Leavenworth.


Minutes later, six green Army trucks swept through the powerless boundary gates of the DB, whose high-tech intrusion detection systems had been rendered inoperable. Military police in SWAT gear and carrying shields poured off the trucks, their automatic weapons and shotguns racked and ready. They charged straight into the facility, their fields of vision bright and clear owing to their latest-generation night-vision goggles that made the blackness inside the prison look as fresh and vibrant as anything on an Xbox.


Prisoners froze where they were. Then those who were still standing immediately lay facedown, their hands behind their backs and their limbs trembling in the face of superbly trained soldiers loaded for war.


Order was eventually achieved.


Army engineers were able to restore power and the lights came back on and doors could lock once more. In the meantime, the MPs from Fort Leavenworth turned the facility back over to the guards and left the way they had come. The prison commander, a full colonel, gratefully exhaled as the weight of the world, or at least a sudden wall appearing between him and his next promotion, was lifted.


Prisoners shuffled back into their cells.


A head count was done.


The list of prisoners accounted for was compared to the official list of inmates. Initially, the numbers tallied.


Initially.


But on further inspection that did not turn out to be the case.


There was one prisoner missing. Only one. But he was an important one. He had been sent here for life. Not because he had fragged an officer or otherwise killed one or many. Or because he had raped, slashed, burned, or bombed. He was not on death row. He was here because he was a traitor, having betrayed his country in the area of national security, which was a term that made everyone sit up and look over their shoulder.


And even more inexplicably, on the cot in the missing prisoner’s cell was someone else—an unidentified dead man lying facedown under the covers. This was the cause of the initial miscount of heads.


They searched every corner of the DB, including the air ducts and any other crevices they could think of. They raced outside into the now-dying storm to search there, marching in methodical columns, leaving nothing unexamined.


But this plot of Kansas soil did not yield what they were looking for.


The inmate was gone. No one could explain how. No one could say how the dead man had come to be here. No one could make sense of any of this.


There was only one obvious fact.


Robert Puller, once a major in the United States Air Force and an expert in nuclear weaponry and cyber security, and also the son of one of the most famous fighting soldiers of them all, the now retired Army lieutenant general John Puller Sr., had escaped from the inescapable DB.


And he had left behind an unknown dead man in his place, which was even more inexplicable than how he had managed to break out.


Informed of this seeming impossibility turned stark reality, the prison’s commander lifted the secure phone in his office, and in doing so kissed his once-promising career goodbye.
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John Puller had his M11 pistol pointed at the man’s head.


A fancied-up Beretta 92—known in the military as an M9A1—was pointed right back at him.


It was a twenty-first-century duel that promised no winners and portended two fatal losers.


“I’m not taking the fall for this,” roared PFC Tony Rogers. He was a black man in his twenties with the image of a “terrible towel” and the Pittsburgh Steelers logo inked on his forearm. He was about five-nine, and had a shaved head, dumbbell shoulders, ripped arms, and beefy thighs mismatched with a high-pitched voice.


Puller was dressed in khaki pants and a navy blue windbreaker with the gold letters “CID” stenciled on the back. Rogers wore his Army Combat Uniform, or ACU, pants, regulation boots, and an Army T-shirt, with a patrol cap on his head. He was sweating though the air was crisp. Puller was not sweating. Rogers’s gaze was erratic. Puller’s eyes did not lift from Rogers’s face. He wanted to exude calm, hoping to graft it onto the other man.


The pair of soldiers had squared off in an alley behind a bar outside of Lawton, Oklahoma, home to Fort Sill and also the grave of the Indian leader Geronimo. Puller had been to Lawton a couple of times before, and his father had been briefly stationed there once during his Army career. He was here now in his capacity as an agent in the Criminal Investigation Command attempting to arrest an alleged killer who wore the same uniform he did, and who was now pointing his Army-issued sidearm at him.


Puller said, “So tell me your side of the story.”


“I didn’t shoot anybody. You hear me? You are out your damn mind saying I did.”


“I’m not saying anything. I’m just here because it’s my job. You have defenses to the charges, then good for you. Use them.”


“What are you talking about?”


“I’m talking about you getting a kickass JAG lawyer to defend you and maybe you beat the charge. I know some good ones. I can refer you. But doing what you’re doing right now is not helping your case. So put the gun down and we forget all about you running away and then drawing down on me.”


“Bullshit!”


“I have a warrant for your arrest, Rogers. I’m just doing my job. Let me do it peacefully. You don’t want to die in a crummy alley in Lawton, Oklahoma. And I sure as hell don’t.”


“They’re gonna put me away for life. I got a momma to support.”


“And your mother wouldn’t want you to end it like this. You’ll get your day in court. They’ll hear your side. You can bring your mother in as a character witness. Let the legal system do its thing.” Puller said all of this in an even, calming voice.


Rogers eyed him cagily. “Look, why don’t you just get out my way so I can walk out this alley and out the damn Army?”


“We both wear the same uniform and I can try to help you, PFC. But I can’t do that.”


“I will shoot your ass. I swear to God I will.”


“Still won’t be happening.”


“I don’t miss, man. Top marks on the damn range.”


“You fire I fire. We both go down. It’s stupid for it to end that way. I know you can see that.”


“Then let’s just call it a truce. You just walk away.”


Puller gave one shake of the head while his gaze and gunsight held on Rogers. “I can’t do that.”


“Why the hell not?”


“You’re in the artillery, Rogers. You have a job to do, right? One that the Army spent a lot of time and money drilling into you, right?”


“Yeah, so what?”


“Well, this is my job. And my job doesn’t let me walk away. Now, I don’t want to shoot you, and I don’t think you want to shoot me, so put the gun down. It’s the smart thing to do. You know that.”


Puller had tracked the man to this location after finding more than enough evidence to put him away for a long time. However, Rogers had spotted Puller and made a run for it. That run had ended in this alley. There was no way out other than the way they’d entered.


Rogers shook his head. “We both gonna die, then.”


“It does not have to end like that, soldier,” retorted Puller. “Use your brain, Rogers. Guaranteed death, or a trial where you might get some time in DB—or where you might even walk away? Which sounds better to you? Which would sound better to your mother?”


This seemed to strike a chord with Rogers. He blinked rapidly and said, “You got family?”


“Yeah, I do. I’d like to see them again. Tell me about your family.”


Rogers licked his chapped lips. “Momma, two brothers, and three sisters. Back in Pittsburgh. We’re Steeler fans,” he added proudly. “My daddy was there when Franco caught the Immaculate Reception.”


“So put the gun down and you can still watch the games.”


“You ain’t listening, dammit! No way I’m going down for this. See, that dude drew down on me. It was self-defense.”


“Then make that claim at your court-martial. Maybe you walk away free.”


“That’s not gonna happen and you know it.” He paused and studied Puller. “You got stuff on me or you wouldn’t be here. You know about the damn drugs, don’t you?”


“My job is to bring you in, not pass judgment.”


“This is the middle of nowhere, man. Need some juice to get by. I’m a city guy. I don’t like cows. And I’m not the only one.”


“You’ve got a good record in the Army, Rogers. That’ll help you. And if it was self-defense and the jury believes you, you’re home free.”


Rogers shook his head stubbornly. “My ass is gone. You know it, I know it.”


Puller quickly thought of some way to defuse the situation. “Tell me something, Rogers. How many drinks did you have in the bar?”


“What?”


“Simple question. How many drinks?”


Rogers tightened his grip on the pistol as a bead of sweat ran down his left cheek. “Pitcher of beer and a shot of Beam.” He suddenly yelled, “What the hell does that matter? You messin’ with me? Are you messin’ with me, asshole!”


“I’m not messing with you. I’m just trying to explain something to you. Will you listen to what I have to say? Because it’s important. It’s important to you.”


Puller waited for him to answer. He wanted to keep Rogers engaged and thinking. Thinking men rarely pulled triggers. Hotheads did.


“Okay, what?”


“That’s a fair amount of alcohol you’ve had.”


“Shit, I can drink twice that and still drive a Paladin.”


“I’m not talking about driving a Paladin.”


“Then what?” demanded Rogers.


Puller continued in a calm tone, “You’re about a hundred and seventy pounds, so even with the adrenaline spike I’m guessing that your intoxication level is about a point one, and maybe higher with the shot of Beam. That means you’re legally too drunk to drive a moped, much less a twenty-seven-ton howitzer.”


“What the hell’s that got to do with anything?”


“Alcohol impairs fine motor skills, like the kind required to aim and fire a weapon properly. With what you’ve had to drink, we’re talking a serious degradation of marksmanship skills.”


“I sure as hell ain’t missing your ass from ten feet.”


“You’d be surprised, Rogers, you really would be. I calculate you’ve lost at least twenty-five percent of your normal skill level in a situation like this. On the other hand, my aim and fine motor skills are perfect. So I will ask you once more to put down your weapon, because a twenty-five percent reduction pretty much ensures that this will not end well for you.”


Rogers fired his gun at the same time he yelled, “Fu—.” But he was unable to complete the word.
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John Puller dropped his duffel on the floor of his bedroom, took off his cap, wiped a bead of sweat off his nose, and dropped onto the bed. He’d just gotten back from the investigation at Fort Sill. The result had been his tracking down PFC Rogers in that alley.


And when Rogers, despite Puller’s requests for him to stand down, had started to squeeze the trigger of his Army-issued sidearm, Puller had stepped slightly to the right while narrowing his target silhouette and firing at the same time. He hadn’t actually seen Rogers start to pull the trigger. It was the look in the man’s eyes and the curse that had started coming out of his mouth—only half finished because of the M11’s punch. Rogers was true to his word—he wasn’t leaving the alley without a fight. Puller had to admire him somewhat for that. He was no coward, although maybe it was just the Jim Beam talking.


Rogers’s round had slammed into the brick wall behind Puller. The slug’s impact chipped off a sliver of brick that shot out and ripped a hole in Puller’s sleeve but drew no blood. Uniforms could be mended with thread. Flesh could too, but he’d take the hole in the uniform over one in him.


He could have killed Rogers with a headshot, but while the situation was dire, he had been in worse. He pointed his gun downward and shot the PFC in the right leg just above the knee. Shots in the torso allowed someone to fire back because sometimes they didn’t completely incapacitate. Shots around the knee region, however, reduced the toughest men to screaming babies. Rogers dropped his weapon, fell to the ground, and shrieked, clutching his damaged leg. The man would probably walk with a limp for a long time, but at least he would be alive.


Puller had triaged the man he’d shot, called in the paramedics, ridden to the Army hospital with the wounded man, and even let Rogers try to crush his hand when the pain got too bad. Then he had filled out the requisite mountain of paperwork, answered a slew of questions, and finally jumped on a military transport flight for home.


The man Rogers had shot down in the street after a drug deal gone bad now had some semblance of justice. The Rogers family back in Pittsburgh had a son and brother to support and cry over. The Steelers would still have a fan to cheer them on, albeit from an Army stockade. It shouldn’t have happened. But it had. Puller knew it was either him or the other man. Still, he always preferred to put the cuffs on instead of pulling the trigger. And shooting a fellow soldier, criminal or not, didn’t sit well with him.


All in all, a pretty crappy day’s work, he concluded.


Now he simply needed some shut-eye. All he was asking for was a few hours. Then it was back on duty, because at CID you were really never off duty, though he would be confined to a desk while an incident investigation was performed over his use of extreme force in that alley. But after that he would just go where they told him to go. Crime did not keep a schedule, at least to his knowledge. And because of that he had never punched a time clock during his Army career, because combat wasn’t a nine-to-fiver either.


Puller had barely closed his eyes when his phone buzzed. He looked at the screen and groaned. It was his old man. Or, more accurately, it was the hospital calling on behalf of his father.


He dropped the phone on the bed and closed his eyes once more.


Later, tomorrow, maybe the next day, he would deal with the general. But not now. Right now he just wanted some sack time.


The phone started buzzing again. It was the hospital. Again. Puller didn’t answer it and the phone finally stopping ringing.


Then it started buzzing again.


These pricks are just not going to give up.


And then his next thought was jolting. Maybe his father had . . . But no, the old man was too stubborn to die. He’d probably outlive both his sons.


He sat up and grabbed the phone. The number on the screen was different. It wasn’t the hospital.


It was his CO, Don White.


“Yes, sir?” he answered.


“Puller, there’s a situation. Maybe you haven’t heard.”


Puller blinked and then tied his CO’s ominous statement to the calls from the hospital. His father. Was he really dead? It couldn’t be. Fighting legends didn’t die. They just . . . were there. Always.


His voice dry and scratchy, he said, “Heard what, sir? I just got back in town from Fort Sill. Is it my father?”


“No, it’s your brother,” said White.


“My brother?”


His brother was in the most secure military prison in the country. Now Puller’s mind turned to other possibilities involving his sibling.


“Has he been injured?” Puller didn’t know how that could be. There were no riots at the DB. But then again, one of the guards had slugged Bobby once, for a reason he had never shared with his brother.


“No. It’s a little more serious than that.”


Puller drew a quick breath. More serious than that? “Is he . . . is he dead?”


“No, apparently he’s escaped,” White answered.


Puller drew another quick breath as his mind tried to come to terms with this statement. But one didn’t escape from the DB. It would be like flying to the moon in a Toyota. “How?”


“No one knows how.”


“You said ‘apparently.’ Is there some confusion on the point?”


“I said ‘apparently’ because that’s what DB is saying right now. It happened last night. I can’t imagine they wouldn’t have found him by now, if he were still on the premises. DB is big, but it’s not that big.”


“Is any other prisoner missing?”


“No. But there’s something else. Equally troubling.”


“What could that be, sir?


“That could be an unidentified man found dead in your brother’s cell.”


An exhausted Puller could barely process these words. Even with ten hours of sleep behind him he doubted he could have done much with them.


“An unidentified man? Meaning not another prisoner, guard, or other person working at the prison?


“Correct.”


“How exactly did he escape?” asked Puller.


White said, “Storm knocked out the power and then the backup generator failed. Reinforcements from the fort were called in to make sure order was maintained. They thought everything was fine until they did the head count. One head was missing. Your brother’s. And then another head was added—the dead guy. The Army Secretary, I’m told, just about had a coronary when he was briefed.”


Puller was only half listening to this as another disturbing thought pushed into his tired mind. “Has my father been informed?”


“I didn’t call him, if that’s what you’re asking. But I can’t speak for others. I wanted you to know as soon as possible. I was just informed myself.”


“But you said it happened last night.”


“Well, DB didn’t exactly give a shout-out that they had lost a prisoner. It went through channels. You know the Army, Puller. Things take time. Whether you’re trying to storm a hill or bang out a press release, it all takes time.”


“But my father could know?”


“Yes.”


Puller was still in a daze. “Sir, I’d like to request a few days’ leave.”


“I thought you might. Consider it granted. I’m sure you want to be with your father.”


“Yes, sir,” said Puller automatically. But he preferred to be involved with his brother’s dilemma. “I suppose CID is handling the case?”


“I’m not sure about that, Puller. Your brother is Air Force. Was Air Force.”


“But DB is an Army prison. No territorial fights there.”


White snorted. “This is the military. There are territorial fights over the men’s room. And considering your brother’s crime, there may be other interests and forces at play here that might trump all the usual interbranch bullshit.”


Puller knew what the man meant. “National security interests.”


“And with your brother on the loose any number of responses might be triggered.”


“He couldn’t have gotten far. DB is smack in the middle of a military installation.”


“But there’s an airport nearby. And interstate highways.”


“That would mean he’d need fake IDs. Transportation. Money. A disguise.”


“In other words he’d need outside help,” added White.


“You think he had that? How?”


“I have no way of knowing. But what I do know is, it’s quite a coincidence that both the main power and the backup generator failed on the same night. And how a prisoner was able to simply walk out of a max military facility, well, it makes one wonder, doesn’t it? And tack on the fact that a dead guy was in his cell? Where the hell did he come from?”


“Do they have a cause of death?”


“If they do, they haven’t shared it with me.”


“Do they think Bob—my brother killed the man?”


“I have no idea what theories they’re entertaining on that score, Puller.”


“But you think he had inside as well as outside help?”


“You’re the investigator, Puller. What do you think?”


“I don’t know. It’s not my case.”


Don White’s voice rose. “And rest assured, it will never be your case. So during your leave, you stay the hell away from this sucker. You do not need that over your head. One Puller in trouble is enough. You hear me?”


“I hear you,” said Puller. But he thought, I don’t necessarily agree with you.


Puller put the phone down and watched as his fat tabby, AWOL, glided into the room, jumped up on the bed, and rubbed her head against Puller’s arm. He stroked AWOL and then picked up the cat, holding her against his chest.


His brother had been at the DB for more than two years. The trial had been swift and he’d been convicted by a panel of his peers. That was just the military way. You were never going to take years to try a case like that nor were there endless appeals. And the media had been kept largely at arm’s length. Fancy civilian lawyers more interested in million-dollar payoffs and selling book and film rights than actually achieving justice had no place at such a trial. The uniforms had handled it all and the wagons had circled early and effectively. Sure you had dirty laundry in uniform but it was never going to be hung on a clothesline for all to see and smell. It was going to be buried in a landfill masquerading as a prison.


Puller had not even been at the trial. He’d been thousands of miles away on CID deployment in the Middle East where half the time he was playing soldier again and toting a rifle against the enemies of the United States. The Army didn’t care about his family problems. He had a mission to perform and perform it he would. By the time he’d gotten back stateside his older brother was already at the DB where he would be staying for the rest of his life.


But maybe not now.


Puller stripped off his clothes and took a shower, letting the water beat down on him as he rested his forehead against the moist tile wall. His breathing was usually slow and steady like the tick of a clock. Now it was erratic and too fast, like a wheel freed from a car bouncing crazy-ass down an embankment.


He could not accept that his brother had escaped from prison for one compelling reason—that meant he truly was guilty.


This was something that Puller had always been unwilling to believe or accept. It just wasn’t apparently in his DNA to do so. Pullers weren’t traitors. They had fought bled and died for their country. Puller had relatives going back to George Washington’s day who had taken musket balls to the chest to be free from England. Corporal Walter Puller had died repelling Pickett’s charge at Gettysburg. Another ancestor, George Puller, had been shot down while flying a British Sopwith Camel over France in 1918. He’d parachuted out and survived, only to die four years later in a training accident while flying an experimental aircraft. At least two dozen Pullers had served in all military branches in the Second World War, with many not coming home again.


We fight. We don’t betray.


He turned off the water and started to towel off. His CO had a good point. It did seem like an amazing coincidence that both the main power and backup generator would go out on the same night. And how could his brother have escaped without help? The DB was one of the most secure prisons ever built. No one had ever escaped before. No one.


And yet his brother apparently had.


And left a dead man in his wake whom no one could identify.


He dressed in clean civilian clothes and headed out to his car after letting AWOL out to run around a bit in the sunshine and fresh air.


Now Puller had to go somewhere, a place he did not want to go.


He would almost rather have returned to combat in the Middle East over where he was headed. But go he had to. He could imagine the foul temper his father would be in, if he even truly understood what had happened. Puller imagined that being around his old man when he was not happy was like being around another military legend, George Patton, when he was pissed off. It was not going to be a pleasant ride for anyone within earshot.


He climbed into his Army-issued white sedan, cranked the engine, rolled down the windows to help dry his short hair, and drove off. This was not how he planned to spend his first day back after shooting a fellow soldier in an alley. But then again, in his world nothing was predictable except that each upcoming moment could be the challenge of a lifetime.


While driving to see Fighting John Puller Sr., USA Ret., he decided he would dearly love to have the tanks of Patton’s Third Army as an escort. He might very well need both the armor and the firepower.
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The storage unit’s overhead door was thrust up, the rusted wheels and track groaning in protest. The man flitted inside and closed the door behind him, exchanging the darkness of the night for the deeper obscurity of the unit’s interior. He reached his hand out and flicked on a light, illuminating the ten-by-ten room’s concrete floor and sheet metal sides and ceiling.


Two walls were covered with shelves. There was an old metal desk and matching chair set against the other wall. On the shelves were neatly stacked boxes. He drew closer to them, examining their labels. His memory was good, but it had been a while since he had been here—well over two years, in fact.


Robert Puller was dressed in Army fatigues and combat boots with a cap covering his head. This had allowed him to blend in well in what was clearly an Army town. But now he needed to completely change his appearance. He opened a box and pulled out a laptop. He set it down and plugged it in. After more than two years he knew the battery would be dead, but he was hoping it would still charge. If not, he would have to buy a new one. He actually needed a computer more than he needed a gun.


He opened another box and took out a pair of hair clippers, a mirror, shaving cream, a towel, a gallon of water in a sealed plastic jug, a bowl, and a razor. He sat down in the metal chair and set the mirror on the desk. He plugged the clippers into an outlet on the wall and turned them on. Over the next few minutes he shaved off his hair, right down to the stubble. Then he coated his scalp with shaving cream, poured the water into the bowl, and removed the stubble with the razor, dunking the blade periodically in the bowl to clean it and then wiping it off on the towel.


He studied the results in the mirror and came away satisfied. The human head had nine basic shapes. With a full head of hair his looked more moon-shaped. With no hair his head appeared bullet-shaped. It was a subtle but distinct change.


He slipped a length of moldable soft plastic in front of his upper row of teeth. This caused a slight bulging and broadening of the skin and muscle there as he flexed his mouth and jaw, changing the shape of the plastic insert until it rested comfortably in place.


Keeping out the mirror, water, and the towel, he put the other things away in the box and replaced it on the shelf.


Another box held articles of a more technical nature. He pulled them all out and set them up neatly on the desk like a surgeon lining up his instruments before commencing an operation. He covered his shoulders and front with the towel and then sketched out what he wanted to do on a piece of paper. He applied spirit gum to his nose and tapped it with his finger to make it sticky. He then quickly added a bit of a cotton ball to the surface before the adhesive dried out. He used a Popsicle stick to remove from a jar a small quantity of nose putty mixed with Derma Wax. He rubbed the putty into a ball, warming it with his body heat, making it easier to manipulate. He applied the putty to sections of his nose, all the while looking at his work in the mirror, first face on and then from the profile. He smoothed out the putty using KY Jelly. The smoothing and shaping took a long time, but he was patient. He had just spent more than two years in a prison cell. If nothing else, that taught you considerable patience.


Once he was satisfied with the shape, he used a stipple sponge to add texture and sealed it all. Then he let it dry. Finally, he applied makeup over his entire face, highlighting and shadowing and then using transparent powder to finish up.


He sat back and looked at himself. The changes were subtle, to be sure. But the overall impact was significant. Few things on a person were more distinctive than the nose. He had just made his unrecognizable from the original.


Next he used the spirit gum to pin his normally slightly protruding ears against his head. He looked at himself once more, scrutinizing every detail, looking for any mistake or imperfection caused by the changes, but came away satisfied.


He scanned a few more box labels and then pulled out another one and opened it. Inside was a fake goatee. He applied spirit gum first and then positioned the goatee while looking in the mirror. When that was done he used a comb to smooth some of the synthetic hairs into place. Facial hair was not allowed in the military—for prisoners or soldiers—so this was a good disguise tactic.


Next he removed his shirt and undershirt and drew out two tat sleeves from the box. He slid one on each arm and once more examined the results in the mirror. They definitely looked like the real thing, he concluded.


Tinted contact lenses were next, changing the color of his eyes.


Then he trimmed his eyebrows, making them much thinner and narrower.


He sat back once more and looked in the mirror, again first face on and then from his right and left profiles.


He doubted even his brother would recognize him.


He went through his mental checklist: Hair, nose, ears, mouth, goatee, eyes, tats, eyebrows. Check, check, and check.


He pulled down another box and slipped out the clothes. He had kept his weight constant over the last two years, and the jeans and short-sleeved shirt fit him fine. He slipped the sweat-stained Stetson on over his shaved head, careful not to dislodge his pinned ears. Reaching into the box once more, he pulled out and put on one-inch worn boots that increased his height to that of his brother’s nearly six feet four. He slid the belt with the two-inch buckle depicting a man on a bull through his jean loops and cinched it tight. His fatigues, cap, and combat boots went into the box and he put it back on the shelf.


The third box contained the documents he would need to accomplish things in the outside world. A valid Kansas driver’s license, two credit cards with a year of life remaining on them, and a thousand dollars in cash, all in twenties. And a checkbook tied to an active bank account with fifty-seven thousand dollars in it plus whatever interest had accrued to it over the years.


He had put in automatic purchase instructions for the credit cards with payments tied to his checking account that had been executed before and during the time he had been in prison. That’s how he had been paying for this storage unit and some other recurring expenses. Under his fake identity he had also purchased and sent gifts and items to nursing homes, hospitals, and strangers whom he had discovered to have been in low circumstances. It had cost him several thousand dollars, but he had done a little bit of good at the same time. It also ensured that there was activity on his accounts, which built up a credit history with reliable payments. Otherwise financial institutions might have looked suspiciously at a dormant account suddenly active after more than two years. And people were watching, Puller knew, because he used to be one of the watchers.


He hefted the last items. A Glock nine-mil and two extra boxes of ammo. And an M4 carbine with three boxes of ammo. Kansas was an open-carry state, which meant so long as your firearm was in plain sight a license was not required. But one did need a permit to carry a concealed weapon, and Puller had one of those too, issued by the great state of Kansas under his fictitious identity. It was still good for another eighteen months.


He slipped the Glock into the clip holster he’d put on his belt and covered this with a denim jacket he’d earlier pulled from his clothes box. He disassembled the M4 and slipped it into a carrier bag, which he placed in the duffel. Then he put on a watch, also from the clothes box, and set it to the proper time. He put a pair of sunglasses in his jacket pocket.


There would be a wide manhunt going on for him. And while he now didn’t look anything like his former self, he also had no margin for error.


He well knew the chaos that must be reigning at the prison right now. He wasn’t sure how it had all gone down, but he realized that he was one of the luckiest people on the planet. This was particularly gratifying since over the last few years he had been one of the unluckiest. The massive swing in his fortunes made him feel a bit lightheaded. He had seized an opportunity when one had presented itself. It was up to him now to carry it all the way to its logical conclusion. He was nothing if not logical. Indeed, some would claim he was too logical at times. And maybe he was.


It seemed to run in the family, though, for his father surely had that capacity. And his younger brother, John, might be the most logical of the three Puller men.


Brother John, he thought. What would he make of all this?


Brothers on opposite sides of the cell door. Now brothers on opposite sides, period. It didn’t feel good, but it never had. And there was nothing he could do right now to change that.


He put everything away and then turned to his laptop. To his delight it came on, though the battery was still charging. He unplugged it and put the computer in a canvas duffel bag. From another box he pulled some more articles of clothing and assorted toiletries and put them in the duffel. Then he slipped it over his shoulder, turned off the light, and exited, locking the overhead door and quickly walking away.


He hoofed it to a diner that was just opening for business as he walked in. Two cops went in ahead of him. They both looked tired, so maybe they were coming off their shifts instead of going on. Puller sat as far away from them as he could. He huddled behind the plastic menu the waitress gave him and ordered coffee, black.


She brought it in a chipped cup and he drank it down in gratifying measures. This was the first cup of coffee outside of prison he’d had in over two years. And that didn’t count the time he had been in custody while his court-martial was going on. He smacked his lips appreciatively and looked over the menu.


He ordered pretty much one of everything, and when his meal came he ate slowly, luxuriating over each bite. It wasn’t that the food at the DB was awful. It was passable. But food just tasted different when you were eating it in a prison cell after it was slid through a notch cut in the steel door.


He finished the last bit of toast and bacon and had another cup of coffee. He had been eating so slowly that the cops had finished and gone. Which was just fine with him. What he didn’t want to see was a couple of MPs take their place, which they did, right as the waitress deposited the bill at his table.


“You have a good one, hon,” she said to him.


“Thanks,” said Puller, before realizing that he had not changed the tone or cadence of his voice.


Pick up your damn game, Bobby.


“Um, you got Wi-Fi here, shug?” he asked in a twangy voice.


She shook her head. “Honey, all we got is stuff to eat and drink. You want that Wi-Fi thing, you got to get yourself down to the Starbucks on the corner.”


“Thanks, shug.”


He zipped up his jacket all the way and made sure his gun was covered.


As he passed by the MPs, one of them flicked a gaze his way and nodded.


Puller drawled, “You boys have a good one.” Then he tacked on, “Go Army.” And then he smiled crookedly.


The man thanked him with a weary smile and returned to looking over his menu.


Puller was careful to close the swing door after him so it wouldn’t bang shut and maybe get those MPs to take a second look at him.


In under a minute he was disappearing into a darkness just about to be broken by the coming Kansas dawn. It was his first daybreak as a free man in a long time.


It tasted first sweet and then turned to vinegar in his mouth.


In another thirty seconds he had turned the corner and was out of sight.
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John Puller knew something was wrong the minute he stepped off the elevator and onto his father’s ward.


It was far too quiet.


Where were his father’s baritone shouts that tended to explode down the hall like mortar rounds, reducing men of iron in uniform to lumps of mush? All he could hear were the normal sounds one associated with a hospital: rubber soles on linoleum, the squeaks of carts and gurneys, the whispers of medicos huddled in corners, visitors coming and going, the occasional shriek of an alarm on a vitals monitor.


He strode down the corridor, quickening his pace when he saw three men coming out of his father’s room. They weren’t doctors. Two were in their branch’s standard service uniforms, while one wore a suit. One of the uniformed men was Army, the other Air Force. Both were generals. The Air Force guy was a one-star. As Puller quickened his pace and closed the gap, he could read the Air Force guy’s nameplate: Daughtrey. The Army man carried three stars pinned to the epaulets on his shoulders and his plate read Rinehart. Puller recognized the name but couldn’t place him. The collection of decorations on his chest ran nine horizontal rows. He was a big man with his hair shaved close to his scalp. And his nose had been broken, at least once.


“Excuse me, sirs?” Puller said, coming to attention. He didn’t issue a salute since they were inside and none were under cover, meaning they did not have their caps on.


They all turned to him.


Puller eyed the generals and said, “I’m Chief Warrant Officer John Puller Jr. with the 701st CID out of Quantico. I apologize for being out of uniform, but I just got back from a mission in Oklahoma and was given some news I needed to see my father about.”


“At ease, Puller,” said Rinehart, and Puller relaxed. “You’re not the only visitor your father’s receiving today.”


“I saw that you were coming out of his room,” Puller noted.


The suit nodded and then flipped out his ID. Puller read it thoroughly. He liked to know who was in the sandbox with him.


James Schindler, with the National Security Council.


Puller had never dealt with anyone from there before. The NSC was a policy group and their people normally didn’t go around investigating things. But these folks were also wired right to the White House. It was heady stuff for a humble chief warrant officer. Then again, if someone wanted to truly intimidate him he would need to have placed a gun muzzle against Puller’s skull. And even that might not be enough.


Rinehart said, “You received ‘news’? I’m sure it’s the same news that prompted our visit here today.”


“My brother.”


Daughtrey nodded. “Your father was not particularly helpful.”


“That’s because he doesn’t know anything about this. And he has a condition.”


“Dementia, we were told,” said Schindler.


Puller said, “It’s beyond his control now. And he hasn’t been in contact with my brother since before he went to prison.”


“But patients with dementia have their lucid moments, Puller,” noted Daughtrey. “And with this case no possible lead is too small to follow up. Since you were next up on our list, why don’t we find a quiet place where we can talk?”


“With all due respect, sir, I’ll meet you wherever and whenever you want, but only after I see my dad. It’s important for me to see him now,” he added, acutely aware that he was collectively outranked by a country mile.


The one-star was clearly not pleased by this, but Rinehart said, “I’m sure that can be accommodated, Puller. There’s not a soldier in uniform today who doesn’t owe Fighting John Puller due deference.” As he said this he glanced sharply at Daughtrey. “There’s a visitors’ room right down this hall. You’ll find us in there when you’re done.”


“Thank you, sir.”


Puller slipped inside his father’s room and shut the door. He didn’t like hospitals. He’d been in enough of them while wounded. They smelled overly clean, but they were actually more full of germs than a toilet seat.


His father was seated in a chair by the window. John Puller Sr. had once been nearly as tall as his youngest son, but time had robbed him of nearly two inches. Yet, at over six-one, he was still a tall man. He wore his usual uniform these days—white T-shirt and blue scrub pants and hospital slippers. His hair, what was left of it, was cottony white and surrounded the crown of his head like a halo. He was fit and trim, and his musculature, while not at the level of his prime, was still substantial.


“Hello, General,” Puller said.


It was usually around this time that his father started jabbering on about Puller being his XO here to receive orders. Puller had gone along with his father’s delusion, though he didn’t want to. It seemed a betrayal of the old man. But now his father didn’t even look at him and didn’t say a word. He just continued to gaze out the window.


Puller perched on the edge of the bed.


“What did those men ask you?”


His father sat up and tapped the window, causing a sparrow to lift into the air and fly off. Then he settled back against the fake leather.


Puller rose and walked over to him, gazing over his head at the outdoor courtyard. He couldn’t remember the last time his father had been outside. He’d spent the majority of his military career out of doors, more than holding his own against enemies doing their best to defeat him and his men. Virtually none of them had succeeded. Who could have predicted it would be a defect in his own brain that would finally bring him down?


“Heard from Bobby lately?” asked Puller, being intentionally provocative. Usually the mention of his brother’s name sent his father into spasms of vitriol.


The only reaction was a grunt, but at least it was something. Puller stood in front of his father, blocking his view of the courtyard.


“What did the men ask you?”


His father inched up his chin until he was staring directly at his youngest child.


“Gone,” said his father.


“Who, Bobby?”


“Gone,” said his father again. “AWOL.”


Puller nodded. This wasn’t technically correct, but he wasn’t holding it against his father. “He is gone. Escaped from the DB, so they say.”


“Bullshit.” The word wasn’t uttered in anger. There was no raised voice. His father just said it matter-of-factly, as though the truth behind its use was self-evident.


Puller knelt down next to him so his father could lower his chin.


“Why is it bullshit?”


“Told ’em. Bullshit.”


“Okay, but why?”


He had caught his father in these moments before, though they were growing less frequent. It was like the one-star general had said: Lucidity was still possible.


His father looked at his son like he was suddenly surprised he wasn’t actually talking to himself. Puller’s spirits sank through the floor when he noted this look. Was that all the old man had in his tank today?


Bullshit?


“Is that all you told them?” asked Puller.


He waited in silence for a minute or so. His father closed his eyes and his breathing grew steady.


Puller closed the door behind him and headed down to confront the stars and suit. They were seated in the otherwise empty visitors’ room. He sat next to Rinehart, the Army three-star, figuring the bond within the same branch of service might be stronger by the physical proximity.


“Nice visit with your father?” asked Schindler.


“In his condition the visits are rarely nice, sir,” said Puller. “And there was no lucidity.”


“We can’t discuss this here,” said Rinehart. “You can drive back with us to the Pentagon. After the meeting we’ll get you transport back here for your car.”


The drive took about thirty minutes before they pulled into one of the parking lots of the world’s largest office building, though it comprised only seven floors, two of which were basement-level.


Puller had been to the Pentagon countless times in his career and still didn’t know his way around very well. He had become lost more than once when he had strayed from his regular route. But everyone who had ever been here had gotten lost at least once. Those who denied doing so were lying.


As they were walking down one broad corridor they had to quickly move to the side as a motorized cart sped toward them carrying stacks of what looked to be large oxygen tanks. Puller knew that the Pentagon had its own emergency oxygen supply in case of an enemy attack or attempted sabotage. The attack against the Pentagon on 9/11 had raised security here to unprecedented heights, and no one foresaw it ever being lowered.


In getting out of the way of the cart Rinehart stumbled a bit, and Puller instinctively grasped his arm to steady his military superior. They both watched as the motorized cart zipped past.


Puller said, “The Pentagon can get a little dangerous, sir. Even for three-stars.”


Rinehart smiled. “Like jumping foxholes sometimes. As big as this place is, sometimes it seems too damn small to contain everything and everybody.”


They reached an office suite where the name “Lieutenant General Aaron Rinehart” was on the door. The three-star led them inside, past his staff, and into an interior conference room. They sat down and water was poured out by an aide, and then the door closed and they were alone.


Puller sat across the table from the three men and waited expectantly. They had not spoken about anything significant on the drive over, so he was still in the dark about what they wanted.


General Daughtrey leaned forward, seemingly pulling the others along, for they all mimicked his movement. “What we got from your father was one word: ‘bullshit.’”


“He’s nothing if not consistent, then,” replied Puller. “Because that’s the same thing he told me.”


“You read any meaning into that?” asked Schindler.


Puller gazed over at him. “I’m not a shrink, sir. I don’t know what my dad meant by it, if anything.”


“When was the last time you visited your brother at DB?” asked Daughtrey.


“About six weeks ago. I try to get up to see him as often as I can. Sometimes the job gets in the way of that.”


“What did he say during your last visit?”


“Nothing about escaping, I can assure you.”


“Okay, but what did he say?” Daughtrey persisted.


“We talked about our father. He asked how my work at CID was going. I talked to him about being at DB. Asked him how it was going.”


“Did you talk at all about his case?” asked Schindler. “What landed him in DB?”


“It’s not a case anymore, sir. It’s a conviction. And no, we didn’t talk about it. What is there left to say?”


Rinehart asked, “Do you have a theory on what happened with your brother’s escape?”


“I’ve formed no opinion because I don’t know all the facts.”


“The facts are still evolving. Suffice it to say the situation was most unusual.”


“It would seem impossible that he’d be able to escape without some help. The backup generator failed? How likely is that? And who was the dead guy in his cell?”


“So you are in possession of the facts?” said Schindler in an accusatory tone.


“Some, not all. But who could have orchestrated something like that at DB?”


“It is troubling,” said Rinehart, quite unnecessarily.


“Has your brother tried to contact you?” asked Schindler.


“No.”


“If he does you will of course contact your superior immediately.”


“I believe that would be my duty, yes.”


“That wasn’t what I asked, Puller.”


“I would contact my superior, yes.”


Schindler handed him a card. “Actually, I’d rather you contacted me first.”


Puller slipped the card into his pocket without answering.


Daughtrey said, “I’m sure you’ve been warned to stay away from this case?”


“My CO made that pretty clear.”


“But since you’re an investigator, I’m also sure you’re quite interested in getting involved in this case, correct?”


Puller gazed at the one-star. This was interesting territory, he thought.


“I didn’t think it was up to me,” he replied. “A direct order is a direct order. I’ve put too many years in to torpedo my career over this.”


“Over your brother, you mean,” said Daughtrey.


Puller gazed at the man. “Do you want me involved in the investigation?


“That would go against all applicable military rules,” interjected Rinehart firmly.


“Well, that doesn’t really answer my question, sir.”


“I’m afraid that’s as good of an answer as you’re going to get, Puller,” said Schindler, rising. They all stood.


“I’ve got leave coming up,” said Puller.


Schindler smiled.


“Well, then, I’d use it wisely if I were you.” He tapped Puller’s pocket where he’d put Schindler’s card. “And don’t forget to call me if something pops. Interest in this case goes up so high you’d need a tank of oxygen to breathe.”


Daughtrey said, “One more question, Puller.”


“Yes, sir?”


“Did you ever ask your brother if he was guilty?”


The query surprised Puller, and he didn’t like to be surprised.


“I did, once.”


“And what did he tell you?”


“He was noncommittal.”


Daughtrey said, “And what do you think? Was he guilty?”


Puller didn’t answer right away. It didn’t really matter what he thought about his brother’s guilt or innocence. It couldn’t change reality. Yet it seemed that all three men very much wanted to hear his answer.


“I don’t want to believe that my brother was a traitor,” he finally said. That was really the best he could do, and he didn’t intend to say any more on the subject despite being outranked.


Daughtrey said, “He was guilty, Puller. Because the court-martial said he was. Evidence was overwhelming. You may not have been privy to it, but we all were.”


Rinehart said, “That’s all, Chief Puller. You’re dismissed.”


Puller walked out wondering what the hell had just happened.
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He needed to think this through, but also talk things out with someone. And there was really only one person he could do that with. He lifted his phone from his pocket and punched in the number. She answered two rings later.


“I heard,” Julie Carson said immediately. “You want to talk, right?”


“Yeah. I just saw my father, and then I got a weird sort of third degree from a suit from the NSC and a couple of generals, one Army, one Air Force.”


“What was the NSC’s name?”


“James Schindler. I’ve got his card. He’s based in D.C.”


“Who was the Army guy?” she asked.


“Three-star named Aaron Rinehart, big guy, broken nose, hair shaved close to the scalp. He had about as many decorations on his chest as my father. His name is familiar.”


“I’ve certainly heard of him, but don’t know him personally. Tough, no-nonsense, incredibly well connected, and moving up fast for his fourth star. There’s even talk he’ll be the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs or Chief of Staff of the Army at some point. How about the flyboy?”


“One-star named Daughtrey. He didn’t offer up his first name.”


“Okay, I’ll see what I can find out. They’re all in the database somewhere.”


“Thanks, Julie.”


“I haven’t done anything yet.”


“You answered your phone when you obviously knew why I was calling. You could have played ostrich and dodged the bullet. You’ve got a new command down in Texas that I’m sure is keeping you busy twenty-four/seven. So thanks.”


“I don’t much care for ostriches. Never saw the point. And I’m getting these folks down here whipped into shape. I’ll call you later.”


He hung up and sat back. He wasn’t thinking about his brother right now and his dilemma. He was thinking about the woman who had been on the other end of that conversation.


When Puller had first met her, Julie Carson was an Army one-star assigned to the Pentagon with designs on at least one and possibly two more stars before her military career was finished. Puller had run into her during a case he was investigating in West Virginia. The two had started out as adversaries and then months later had ended up sharing a bed while Puller was investigating his aunt’s death at her home on the Gulf Coast of Florida. And Carson had almost been killed while trying to help him. Though badly wounded, she’d fully recovered. Puller still had nightmares about it.


She had gotten her second star and with it a new command at an Army base in Texas. They had said their goodbyes over a bottle of wine and take-out Italian. The Army tended to get in the way of any permanent relationships among service members. He knew he might not see her in person again, at least for a while. After Texas the odds were she would be headed to the Pacific Northwest. After that, it was anyone’s guess. He was just glad that she had answered his call. Right now he needed a friend with stars on her shoulders.


Later that day, he had just gotten back to his apartment near Quantico when his phone buzzed. It was Carson.


“I hope you don’t mind if I eat while I talk,” she said. “I had time today to either eat lunch or do a five-mile run.”


“And of course you opted to run.”


“Don’t we all?” she replied as he heard utensils hitting a plate and liquid being poured into a glass.


“You cook a lot down there?” he asked.


“Are you giving me shit?” she said in a mock-reproachful tone.


“No, I’m deadly serious,” he replied, though his tone wasn’t.


“I almost never cook,” she said. “My mother would be so disappointed. Well, she is disappointed. She could fill the house with what she did in the kitchen. And the smells were like you wouldn’t believe. I played three sports in high school and I think part of me did it so I could eat my mom’s cooking and not get fat. Maybe that’s why I never even really tried to learn my way around the kitchen. I knew I could never be as good as she was.”


“A little competitive, are we?”


“Show me anyone in uniform who isn’t,” she shot back.


He heard her gulp whatever she was drinking, and then her tone turned serious. “So let’s talk about your brother.”


“I still can’t get my arms around it.”


“John, how do you break out of DB?”


“How much do you know about it?”


“Mostly scuttlebutt, but there was a lot of it. A storm. Backup power failed. Reinforcements were called in. They restored order. Head count was done. And no Robert Puller in attendance. But there was mention of someone else who shouldn’t have been there.”


“Then you know about as much as I do. And the someone else was dead and in my brother’s cell.”


“Holy hell!” she exclaimed.


“Pretty much says it all,” he said evenly.


“I definitely hadn’t heard that. And no sign of him since?”


“Apparently not. Don White, my CO, filled me in today. Then I went to see my father. I figured he might have heard and even with his condition he might be upset.”


“And that’s when you ran into the suit and the generals?”


“They asked me the standard questions: my visits to him, what we discussed. Then, if he contacted me, to contact them. But then it got weird, like I said on the phone.”


“In what way weird?”


“First, although they never came out and said it, I believe they want me to look into the case.”


“How can that be? I’m sure your CO told you not to go near it.”


“He did. And then the Air Force guy wanted to know if I thought my brother was guilty.”


“And what did you say?”


It suddenly occurred to Puller that he had never really talked about his brother with her. And it also seemed apparent that Carson wanted to know if Puller thought his brother was guilty.


“I didn’t really answer him, because I’m not really sure what I think about it.”


“Okay,” she said, though her tone made clear she was not satisfied by his reply.


He said, “Did you find out anything about these guys?”


“Rinehart’s assigned to DIA. At a very high level. It’s beyond my ability to find out much more than that. The same really goes for James Schindler at the NSC. He wasn’t in the military. He came up through the civilian side of NSA before moving on to the Security Council.”


“I guess that makes sense. My brother was convicted of national security crimes. That cuts across all branches. And so does DIA. And the NSC has its finger in everything because of the president. What about Daughtrey?”


“Timothy Daughtrey is attached to STRATCOM.”


“Bingo! That was where my brother was working when he was arrested.” He paused. “It’s ironic.”


“What is?”


“Bobby was stationed at a STRATCOM satellite facility near Leavenworth when he was arrested and court-martialed. He didn’t have far to travel to go to DB.”


“And the STRATCOM connection dovetails right into DIA and NSC because spooks all hang around the same playground,” she added.


“I guess so,” said Puller slowly.


“The FBI is of course all over this,” added Carson. “National security issues bring out all the big dogs. I would say your brother is the most wanted man in America right now. I wouldn’t think his chances of evading capture are very good.”


“I’m surprised the FBI hasn’t been by to see me,” said Puller.


“I would imagine if they haven’t been by they are at least keeping an eye on you. But it might be that Rinehart et al. have talked to them and made it clear they’re heading the John Puller piece of this equation.”


“Complicated stuff.”


“Yes, it is. I read up on your brother’s career this afternoon,” she added.


“Did you?” he said sharply.


“Hey, don’t cop an attitude. I like to be prepared. A lot of it was classified beyond even my clearances, and some of the files seemed to have been deleted, because there were gaps. Some of the pages I saw onscreen were heavily redacted, but from what I saw your brother’s career was still pretty damn impressive. I mean, the trajectory was like a rocket. He would have easily gotten his star, and more. I even dug up a white paper he’d written on a next-generation nuclear weaponry design. I could understand about every tenth word, and I don’t consider myself stupid. Some of the math equations in the paper looked like Chinese to me.”


“He was always the smart one in the family. Officer material. I was just the enlisted grunt in the trenches.”


“Did you ever ask him if he did it?” she asked bluntly.


Puller said, “Once.”


“And?”


“And he didn’t answer me.”


“And now he’s escaped. You don’t escape from DB without help. It’s impossible.”


“I know.”


“And so you probably know something else.”


“Yeah, that my brother was guilty. And maybe he killed the guy they found in his cell. So he’s a traitor and a murderer.” As he said these words, Puller felt a sharp pain in his chest, his breathing grew shallow, and sweat appeared on his brow. He knew he wasn’t having a heart attack.


But am I having a panic attack?


He had never panicked, not once in his life. Not while bullets were flying and bombs were bursting all around him. He had been scared then, as any sane person would be. But that was not the same as panicked. It was actually the difference between surviving or not.


“John, are you okay?”


“I’m good,” he said curtly, though he really wasn’t.


My brother, a traitor and a murderer? No, I am definitely not good.


“So I guess that answers my question,” she said. “What question?”


“You thought your brother was innocent, didn’t you?”


“Maybe I did.”


“I can understand that, John. It’s natural.”


“Is it?” he said heatedly. “It doesn’t feel natural. None of this does.”


“So what are you going to do?” asked Carson.


“My CO gave me some leave time.”


“And he also told you to stay away from this sucker.”


“And I’ve got an NSC suit and two generals maybe wanting me to take a whack at it.”


“But they gave you no direct order to do so, not that they were even authorized to give one. And you might have misread their intent. On the other hand, your commanding officer explicitly told you to stand down. So the answer is easy. You stand down.”


“He’s my brother, Julie.”


“And you’re a soldier, John. Orders are orders. You don’t really have a choice.”


“You’re right, I don’t. He’s my brother.”


“Why are you doing this?”


“Doing what?”


“Putting this much pressure on yourself.”


Puller took a long breath and then said again more forcefully, “He’s my brother!”


“It doesn’t matter if he’s your brother. That ship has already sailed, Puller. He’s an escaped prisoner. The best you can hope for is that he’s captured safely and returned to DB promptly.”


“So that’s it, then?”


“What more could it be? Look, I know how you must feel. But your brother made his choices. His career and life are over. Are you telling me you want to put yours in jeopardy? And for what possible reason?”


“Everything you’re saying makes perfect sense.”


“But you’re not buying any of it.”


“I didn’t say that.”


“You didn’t have to.” She took a deep breath. “So, again, what are you going to do?”


“I don’t know. And I wouldn’t tell you if I did know. That would just put you in an even more awkward position.”


“I’ve been in those with you before.”


“And you almost died, Julie. I’m never going to do that to you again. Never.”


“I showed up in Florida voluntarily. You didn’t ask me to come down there.”


“But I didn’t tell you to go back home either.”


“I survived.”


“Barely.”


“And I don’t want anything to happen to you, John. Even if I am in Texas now. I still care about you.”


Though they were not face-to-face, Puller could imagine the look that Carson was displaying right now. Tender and concerned.


“Not worried about fraternization rules?”


“They don’t apply to us. They apply to officer and enlisted. We’re both officers. I’m a general, and even though you started out in the ranks, you’re a chief warrant officer. And you’re not under my command.”


“So you checked?”


Her voice rose over the phone. “Yes, I checked. So you can understand if I feel a little proprietary toward you. You can’t tank your career over this. You just can’t!”


“I can’t sit on the sidelines. I’m sorry.”


“John, please think about the consequences.”


“I’ve done nothing but think about them. But it hasn’t changed my decision.”


He heard her draw a long breath. “Well, then I wish you the very best of luck. And I guess I can’t say I’m surprised. After Florida I understand quite clearly that Puller blood is thicker than even the Army green variety.”


“Thanks for understanding.”


“I didn’t say I understood. Just that I’m not surprised. Take care of yourself, Puller. And consider that a direct order from a two-star.”


“That means a lot, Julie. It really does.”


Puller put down the phone, sat back, and closed his eyes. He had never thought that Julie Carson would be the one. She was a general on the rise. He was a chief warrant officer pretty much topped out. He cared for her, but professionally they were like oil and water. But they could and would remain friends. And he would always care about her. Always.


Loyalty mattered to John Puller. Almost as much as family did. And sometimes they were the very same damn thing.
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Wi-Fi was up and working. And so was Robert Puller. While the enormous machinery of the United States military, along with the even bigger intelligence octopus that spread outward from the CIA and the NSA, was searching for him, arguably the most wanted man in America was sipping an unleaded grande Americano with raw sugar mixed in and pounding away on his Apple MacBook Pro with fingers as nimble as a teenager’s. And he’d been here doing this for most of the day.


It was a bit tricky, because as most Americans with an Internet connection or cell phone knew these days, they were watching. And they could come and get you anytime they wanted.


But Robert Puller knew his way around computers and every known way to trace, hack, or spy on their users. And his laptop had been expressly programmed and loaded with software and unique protections not available to the public. There were no back doors for the NSA to pixel-creep up on him. There were no back doors period. Except the ones he had planted in other databases before he went to prison, and was now exploiting to the fullest. Being at STRATCOM all those years had left him in a unique position to hack everybody. And to do it with style, he admitted to himself as he finished off the grande and looked over the other patrons of the Starbucks, where fancied-up java was not merely a beverage but also a way of life. He had already read all the news stories related to his escape. He had been lucky, that was for sure. But it hadn’t been all luck.


The news reports were full of facts. No real details on the hunt, beyond the painfully obvious. Checkpoints, house-to-house searches, watching airports, bus and train stations, asking the public for help, etcetera, etcetera. Pictures of him were all over the Web. If nothing else, they were a stark reminder of how much his appearance had changed overnight. The MPs he had passed earlier at the diner would have had his mug imprinted on their genes. And yet the one guy who’d looked directly at him hadn’t even troubled himself with a second glance.


Also posted all over the Web was his past history. The brilliant academic career where he had topped the lists at every institution he’d attended. The meteoric military career. His far-reaching fingers in all the intelligence pies. The systems he’d developed, the software he’d coded, the farsightedness he’d displayed in arenas of which the public only had a vague awareness. And then the tumble from the high pedestal, the arrest, and the charges aimed at him like a fifty-caliber machine gun set to blow him into little pieces. Then the court-martial. Then the verdict. Finally, the imprisonment for life.


And now the escape.


All of this he read and digested, but it was ultimately meaningless to him.


There was one angle to the story that had socked him right in the gut.


His father and his brother had both been mentioned throughout numerous articles. The fighting legend now laid low by dementia. And there was dirt dredged up and regurgitated about the reasons why he had never gotten the fourth star, and why the Medal of Honor had never been draped around his thick neck.


And then there was his brother, the highly decorated combat veteran turned CID agent who was building himself into an Army legend. But underlying the articles were the visits John Puller Jr. had made to the DB. How close they were as brothers. The lawman and the lawbreaker. No, the law-crusher, for he wasn’t a mere criminal—he had committed treason, saved from the death penalty by who knew what in the military tribunal process.


But are they implying that my brother somehow helped me escape?


He didn’t know where John had been yesterday, but he was pretty sure it wasn’t in Leavenworth. That would have to come out in the papers. His brother would have to be fully cleared of any involvement with the escape. He had to be! Still, he knew that even the hint of suspicion could come close to breaking his kid brother, as strong as he seemed. Personal honor meant everything to John Puller Jr.


And what about John Puller Sr.?


Well, despite his affection for the old man, he just hoped that his father was so far out of it now that nothing could penetrate the dense cloud the dementia was solidifying around his once extraordinary mind.


He set all this aside and tapped his computer keys with renewed vitality. It had been part of his life for so long before it had been taken from him. Yet hacking was like riding a bike. He hadn’t forgotten anything. The codes had changed. The security was better. But it wasn’t infallible. Nothing was. There were new hacking techniques invented every day and the good guys simply could not keep up.


He was a natural hacker, because part of his duties had been to hack his own side, to test defenses that he had helped create. If he, their inventor, couldn’t crack them, it was assumed that no one else could either. Sometimes they’d been right, sometimes wrong. And sometimes Puller had held back just a bit, because he never played the short game.


His gaze trailed off the screen and ventured to the street where a Humvee puttered by. Inside were soldiers in their cammie uniforms, their methodical gazes sweeping the area.


So they still think I might be around here? Interesting.


He really didn’t believe this. The Army was simply covering its ass. The DB had just suffered its first setback. A presence on the street was to be expected. He returned his gaze to the screen and kept typing away, creating his version of a symphony, built note by note, measure by measure, and movement by sly movement.


When the contents of the screen dissolved and then reemerged as something entirely new, he closed his laptop and stood. What he had just gained access to was not meant to be read at the neighborhood Starbucks.


And while he had used plain-Jane Wi-Fi that was basically open to anyone, his laptop was firing off scramblers of such strength that any punk with an electronic mitt trolling for credit card numbers and accompanying PINs would be left with something so garbled that it would look like a trillion-piece digital puzzle without a handy picture to go by.


But still, there were protocols. And though he no longer wore the uniform, Puller intended to abide by these rules to the extent he could. It was part of who he was, who he would always be. They said the uniform made the man. Well, actually, it did. But that statement had nothing to do with clothing. It was all inside of you.


Now was the time for exploration and perhaps a drive. For that he needed wheels. He wasn’t going to do a rental. He was going to write a check for a 2004 Chevy Tahoe pickup in the lot of a used-car dealer the next block over. He’d looked at it earlier while taking a break from his hacking.


It took an hour of dickering and filling out the paperwork. Then he climbed into his new ride, started it up—the eight-cylinder power plant sparking gloriously to life—and drove off. He flicked a wave to the salesman, who’d probably cleared enough of a commission to splurge on a nice meal for himself and the missus, photos of whom Puller had been shown during the course of their negotiation, probably to soften him up.


It hadn’t worked. Prison did not soften you up. It made you a piece of rock.


Next mission: obtaining quarters. Where he could read in peace.


And then he could get this thing rolling.


Robert Puller dearly hoped it had been worth the years-long wait.
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